NO. 45306-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

WILLIAM CAIETTI, III,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

:

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

The trial court's order amending the defendant's sentence after he fully served it violated the defendant's right to be free from double jeopardy under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 9, and United States Constitution, Fifth Amendment.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Does a trial court's order amending a sentence after the defendant fully serves it violate that defendant's right to be free from double jeopardy under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 9, and United States Constitution, Fifth Amendment when the state neither alleges nor proves that the defendant procured the sentence through fraud?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By information filed July 6, 1998, the Clallam County Prosecutor charged the defendant William Caietti, III, with second degree assault against a prison guard under RCW 9A.36.021. CP 104. At the time of the alleged offense the defendant was a prisoner at the Clallam Bay Correctional Facility serving a lengthy sentence out of Spokane County. CP 70-79, 80. The case later went to trial and on November 12, 1998, a jury found the defendant guilty as charged. CP 103. On December 23, 1998, Clallam County Superior Court Judge Terry McCluskey sentenced the defendant to 74 months in prison which was about the midpoint of the standard rage of 63 to 84 months with no credit noted for any time served. CP 94-102. Paragraph 4.6(a) of the judgement and sentence includes the following language which is standard and printed on the form. CP 98. Neither the trial court nor the prosecutor added the number of the defendant's Spokane cause number:

The sentence herein shall run consecutively with the sentence in cause numbers(s)

CP 98.

The Warrant of Commitment the court signed along with the judgment and sentence did not mention the existence of the Spokane conviction and did not note any credit for time served. CP 106. Neither the

but concurrently to any other felony cause not referred to in this Judgment. RCW 9.94A.400.

defendant, nor the Clallam County Prosecutor, nor the Department of Corrections appealed from any portion of this judgment and sentence. CP 7-104. Given the language in the Judgment and Sentence that the 72 months run "concurrently to any other felony cause not referred to in this Judgment," the latest the defendant completed his sentence on February 23 , 2005, which was exactly 72 months after the court signed the judgment and sentence. *Id.* In fact, if the December 23, 1998, sentencing date is taken as the first day the defendant commenced his sentence, the 10 year statutory maximum for the defendant's class B felony conviction ran out on December 23, 2008. *Id.*

On June 6, 2012, over 13 years after the court sentenced the defendant on the second degree assault charge and over seven and one-half years after the defendant completed his sentence, Washington State Department of Corrections (DOC) Records Supervisor Patty Jordan sent the defendant a letter stating that DOC was unilaterally changing his Clallam County sentence to run it consecutive to his Spokane County sentence. CP 48. The first two paragraphs of this letter stated:

This letter is to inform you of a change in your release date. A recent audit of your sentence structure has uncovered that your sentence for the Assault 2^{nd} had not been entered correctly. Cause 98-1-00191-6 should have been ran consecutive to all other causes per RCW 9.94A.589 which states under section (2)(a); Except as provided in (b) of this subsection, whenever a person while under sentence for conviction of a felony commits another felony and is sentence to another term of confinement, the latter term shall not begin until expiration of all prior terms. I am enclosing a copy of the RCW for

your review.

You were sentenced to 74 months on your Clallam cause 98-1-00191-6. This time has now been entered to run consecutive to the longest count on your Spokane 95-1-00365-7 cause. Your earned Release date (ERD) changed due to this update, from January 11, 2023, to September 22, 2028.

CP 48.

Apparently DOC later became aware of the decision in *State v. Dress*, 168 Wn.App. 319, 279 P.3d 875 (2012), which prohibits DOC from unilaterally modifying a defendant's judgment and sentence. CP 81. As a result, on October 26, 2012, Ms Jordan sent an e-mail to the Clallam County Prosecutor noting that (1) the Clallam County Superior Court had erroneously ordered that the defendant's sentence run concurrent to his Spokane County Sentence, (2) that the *Dress* decision prohibited DOC from unilaterally changing the sentence to run it consecutively, and (3) that the Clallam County Prosecutor should bring an action seeking to modify the defendant's sentence because "[a]t this time the Clallam cause is being run concurrent to his other cause." CP 81. The exact language of this e-mail is as follows:

Caietti was received at the Clallam Bay Corrections Center on 12-11-1998 from Clallam County on CSE#98-1-00191-6. Per RCW 9.94A.589(2)(a), this cause should run consecutively with the prior sentences, the longest running one being Spokane CSE#95-1-00365-7. This Judgment and Sentence contains boilerplate language that has been determined by the Court to run the sentences concurrently per the recent Dress Decision <u>66262-7</u> filed on 05-14-12. Please review and if you agree provide this office with a certified order amending the original Judgment and Sentence stating this cause is to be served

consecutively to the DOC sanction and/or DOSA revocation. If you do not agree, we would appreciate a written response for our files.

This was an added cause in which the offender was convicted of assaulting a staff member in prison. Since he was serving another felony cause (Spokane 95-1-00365-7) when he committed this offense, in appears per RCW 9.94A.589(3)(a) that the Clallam cause should be consecutive to his prior offenses, however J&S states "this sentence shall run consecutively with the sentence in cause number(s) <u>blank</u> but concurrently to any other felony cause not referred to in this Judgment". Please let me know if you need anything further form me. Appreciate any clarification you can provide

At this time the Clallam cause is being run concurrent to his other cause.

CP 81 (bold, underlining and italics in original).

About two months after receiving this e-mail, the Clallam County Prosecutor filed a Motion to Correct Judgment and Sentence in this case, arguing that (1) the trial court had intended to run the defendant's Clallam County sentence consecutive to his Spokane sentence, (2) that the failure to add the Spokane County cause number to paragraph 4.6(a) of the judgment and sentence was a "clerical error" under CrR 7.8(a) and (3) that under CrR 7.8(a), the court had authority at any time to remedy that error by modifying the judgment and sentence to conform with the trial court's intent. CP 49-57, 67-91. In support of this motion the state presented the minute sheet from the sentencing hearing along with the affirmation of the sentencing judge. CP 82. The former states in relevant part: "Court sentenced def. to 74 mo. in prison. Consecutive to charge he is now serving." CP 82. In the latter

affidavit former Judge McCluskey included the following claim:

I recall and I am positive that it was my intent, at the time of sentencing, to sentence Mr. Caiette [sic] to a prison term which would be served consecutively to the term he was already serving from Spokane.

CP 32.

The defense responded to the state's motion by arguing that (1) the trial court had not intended to run the defendant's sentence consecutively, (2) that any error if it existed was a judicial error that could only be remedied under CrR 7.8(b), (3) that the state's motion under CrR 7.8(b) was untimely, and (4) given the fact that the defendant had completed his sentence prior to the state filing its motion, any application of a remedy under CrR 7.8(a) would violate the defendant's right under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 9, and United States Constitution, Fifth Amendment to be free from double jeopardy. CP 42-48. In support of his factual argument the defendant gave an affirmation stating that the judge had ordered that his Clallam County sentence run concurrently with his Spokane County sentence. Exhibit 4. In addition, the defense attempted to get a transcription of the original sentencing hearing but eventually determined that the court reporter had destroved her notes. CP 58, 61; RP 10-12, 13-20.¹

¹The record on appeal includes one volume of continuously numbered verbatim reports of the hearings held 1/11/13, 1/31/13, 2/21/13, 3/21/13, 5/16/13, 5/24/13 and 8/7/13. They are referred to herein as "RP [page #]."

Following a number of hearings on the matter the court granted the state's motion, amended the judgment and sentence to run it consecutive to the defendant's Spokane cause number and later entered the following findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of its ruling:

THIS MATTER came before the court on May 16, 2013, for the State's motion to correct the judgment and sentence, the plaintiff appearing by and through Clallam County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, Jesse Espinoza, the Defendant appearing in person by and through his attorney, Harry D. Gasnick, the Court having reviewed the briefings and having heard the testimony and arguments by the parties, and deeming itself fully apprised in the premises, and having filed a Memorandum Opinion (incorporated herein along with all exhibits admitted), the court makes the following "Background, Issues, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order."

I. BACKGROUND

On Dec. 10, 2012, the Clallam County Prosecutor, through her deputy, Jesse Espinoza, (hereinafter "State") filed a motion to correct the Judgment and Sentence entered on Dec. 23, 1998 under Clallam County cause no. 98-1-00191-6 (hereinafter "1998 Clallam cause"). The State sought to add language to make the prison term ordered under the 1998 Clallam cause run "consecutive" to the sentence entered on Sept. 5, 1995 under Spokane County cause no. 95-1-00365-7 (hereinafter "1995 Spokane cause").

On Sept. 5, 1995, the defendant was sentenced to 236 months under the 1995 Spokane cause. On July 6, 1998, while serving his sentence under the 1995 Spokane cause, the defendant was charged under the 1998 Clallam cause with Assault in the Second Degree for assaulting a correctional officer at the Clallam Bay Corrections Center on Aug. 7, 1997. On Nov. 12, 1998 a jury found the defendant guilty of Assault in the Second Degree as charged. On Dec. 23, 1998, the defendant was sentenced to 74 months.

Paragraph 4.6 of the judgment and sentence under the 1998 Clallam cause state the following:

The sentence herein shall run consecutively with the sentence in cause number(s) _____ but concurrently to any other felony cause not referred to in this judgment. RCW 9.94A.400.

It is the State's position that the court should have ordered the 74 months to be served consecutively to the 1995 Spokane cause and that "Spokane County cause no. 95-1-00365-7" was inadvertently omitted from paragraph 4.6 in the 1998 Clallam judgment and sentence. The defendant argues that there was no mistake and that the Court intended the sentence to run concurrently with the 1995 Spokane cause.

The State offered the affidavit of the sentencing to the Judge, Terry McClusky, dated June 7, 2013, which states as follows:

This is my declaration regarding the matter of the sentencing of William Caietti under Clallam County Superior court Cause no. 98-1-00191-6. I was the sentencing Judge on this matter and remember it very well. I also remember the details of his case from Spokane County. It is my recollection that Mr. Caietti was in prison in Clallam Bay due to his Spokane county charges, one of which was for Kidnaping. Mr. Caietti was serving a sentence of approximately 31 years when he committed the crime for Assault in the Second Degree. I recall and I am positive that it was my intent, at the time of sentencing, to sentence Mr. Caietti to a prison term which would be served consecutively to the term he was already serving from Spokane. The alternative would be a sentence with no punishment.

Tammy Wooldridge was the courtroom clerk during the sentencing hearing on Dec. 23, 1998. The court reporter notes from the sentencing hearing for the 1998 Clallam cause could not be located but the minutes for the hearing were available. At the hearing, Ms. Wooldridge testified that she had served in the capacity of a courtroom clerk for 28 years, beginning in 1978. Ms Wooldridge identified Sate's Exhibit no. 1 as the minutes she prepared at the sentencing hearing for the 1998 Clallam cause on Dec. 23, 1998.

Ms. Wooldridge's minutes read in part as follows:

Sentencing. Counsel gave recommendations. Court

sentences defendant to 74 months in prison. Consecutive to charge he is now serving.

Ms. Wooldridge testified that her duties as a courtroom clerk entail the recording of the judge's ruling by putting into the minutes "what I hear." Ms Wooldridge further stated that there were no corrections made to State's Exhibit No. 1, although she also admitted that she is human and can make mistakes.

The defendant's certified declaration states as follows:

My memory of these proceedings is that the judge said my sentence was to be served concurrently with my sentence from Spokane."

II. ISSUES

1. Whether the omission of a term from the 1998 Clallam judgment and sentence in paragraph 4.6 requiring the defendant's sentence to be served consecutively with the sentence under the 1995 Spokane cause, was a mistake, oversight or omission or whether it was an error of law?

2. Whether CrR 7.8 or RCW 9.94A.585(7) applies to the facts of this case?

3. Whether the defendant would suffer prejudice from the correction of the sentence under the 1998 Clallam cause by requiring that it be served consecutively to the sentence under the 1995 Spokane cause?

II. FINDINGS OF FACTS

1. The sentence under the 1998 Clallam cause was mandated by law to run consecutively to the sentence under the 1995 Spokane cause pursuant to RCW 9.94A.400(2) which was in effect in 1998.

2. In order for the 1998 Clallam cause to run concurrently with the 1995 Spokane cause, the sentencing Court in the 1998 Clallam cause would have had to impose an exceptional sentence, which was not done.

3. For this Court to find that the sentencing Judge, under the 1998 Clallam cause, intended the sentences to run concurrently, several assumptions would have to be made:

a. That Judge McClusky's memory is inaccurate and that both he and the prosecuting attorney were either ignorant of the law or chose to outright ignore the law; and at the same time,

b. That a courtroom clerk, with 20 years experience, misheard the judge and wrote "consecutive" rather than "concurrent". This is not language that would appear routinely in the clerk's minutes unless there was some discussion on the record.

4. It is the Court's finding that the likelihood of both the above assumptions occurring at the same time is highly problematic and it is extremely unlikely that the judge, prosecutor, and courtroom clerk would all have a lapse in judgment at the same moment.

5. There is evidence that the Dept. Of Corrections (DOC) was aware of the omission of the 1995 Spokane cause No. in paragraph 4.6 of the 1998 Clallam County judgment and sentence and failed to act within a 90 day window as set forth in RCW 9.94A.585(7).

6. The defendant was present at his own sentencing under the 1998 Clallam cause and was aware of the consecutive nature of his sentence.

7. The defendant asserted that DOC made prior representations that his 1998 Clallam County sentence had concluded in 2005. The defendant would have been aware that such representations by DOC were erroneous.

II. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The failure to specify, in paragraph 4.6 of the judgment and sentence under the 1998 Clallam cause, that the sentence shall be served consecutively to the sentence under the 1995 Spokane cause was a mistake, oversight or omission pursuant to CrR 7.8(a) rather than an error of law.

2. RCW 9.94A.585(7) applies to petitions filed by DOC directly

to the Court of appeals, not by the county prosecutor and is limited to "errors of law" and therefore, it does not apply to the facts and issues in dispute in the present case.

3. RCW 9.94A.585(7) and CrR 7.8(a) cover two different scenarios and are therefore not in conflict.

4. The decision in *Dress v. Washington State Dept. Of Corrections*, 168 Wn. App. 319, 279 P.3d 875 (Ct. App. 2012), does not control in the present case. The *Dress* Court found that the sentencing court intentionally made the sentence concurrent rather than consecutive and therefore *Dress* was not a case dealing with a "mistake, oversight or omission."

5. Since the defendant was present at sentencing and was aware of the consecutive nature of the sentence, the defendant is not prejudiced by the correction of the sentence under the 1998 Clallam cause which makes the 74 month term of confinement consecutive to the sentence under the 1995 Spokane cause.

IV. ORDER

Based upon the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby ordered that paragraph 4.6 of the defendant's judgment and sentence under Clallam County cause no. 98-1-00191-6 shall be corrected by specifying that the 74 month prison sentence shall be served consecutive to the sentence under Spokane County cause no. 95-1-00365-7.

CP10-15.

Following entry of this order the defendant filed timely notice of

appeal. CP 7.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER AMENDING THE DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE AFTER HE FULLY SERVED IT VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO BE FREE FROM DOUBLE JEOPARDY UNDER WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE 1, § 9, AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, FIFTH AMENDMENT.