IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

NO. 45306-1-II

CLALLAM COUNTY CAUSE NO. 98-1-00191-6

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

WILLAM CAIETTI III

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Lewis M. Schrawyer, #12202
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
223 East Fourth Street, Suite 11
Port Angeles, WA 98362-3015
(360) 417-2297 or 417-2296
lschrawyer@co.clallam.wa.us
Attorney for Respondent

I. Counterstatement of the Issues

ISSUE ONE

When a person commits an offense while committed to a county jail or a state correctional facility, does a later reviewing court have authority to correct the oversight or omission without creating double jeopardy, even where the defendant claims an interest in finality?

II. Statement of the Case

The State accepts the statement of facts as presented by Mr. Caietti.

III. Summary of Argument

Mr. Caietti has not excepted to any findings of the trial court nor to the reviewing court's authority to proceed under CrR 7.8 (a). The reviewing court had authority to correct the omission and impose a correct sentence because the previous sentence was erroneous and invalid. Because the sentence was erroneous, Mr. Caietti has no reasonable expectation of finality.

IV. Argument

Standard of Review: A trial court's sentencing decision is reviewed de novo. See, e.g., State v. Tili, 248 Wn.2d 350, 358, 60 P.3d 1192 (2003) ("We review a sentencing court's calculation of an offender score de novo.")

Analysis:

1. The reviewing court's findings are verities on appeal.

Mr. Caietti has not assigned error to any of the reviewing court's findings of fact. Unchallenged findings of fact will not be reviewed on appeal and will be treated as verities. *State v. Acrey*, 148 Wn.2d 728, 745, 64 P.3d 594 (2003). The remaining issue is whether the trial court's conclusions follow from the findings. *State v. Brown*, --- Wn.App. ---, 312 P.3d 1017, 1021 (2013).

2. The reviewing court utilized the correct legal process to address the omission in the 1998 judgment and sentence.

Mr. Caietti has not challenged the reviewing court's authority to address the sentencing issue pursuant to CrR 7.8 (a). CrR 7.8 (a) reads in pertinent part:

(a) Clerical Mistakes. Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders.

(emphasis added). The State believes that CrR 7.8 (a) is the appropriate vehicle to modify a judgment and sentence in two

situations: First, where a clerical mistake has occurred.

Second, where errors therein arise from oversight or omission.

Based on the analysis the State will provide, the reviewing court utilized the appropriate process because the failure to fill in the section related to concurrent / consecutive in 1998 was a mere oversight.

3. Mr. Caietti has not obtained an interest in finality because the sentence he allegedly received (termed a concurrent sentence) was erroneous, invalid and illegal.

Mr. Caietti argues the trial court erred in imposing a correct consecutive sentence in place of an erroneous concurrent sentence, claiming he has a double jeopardy¹ interest in finality. His argument is not well founded. Mr. Caietti has no interest in finality because the sentence he received² is

¹ Throughout the State's response, the term "double jeopardy" will apply to both U.S. Const., amend. V and Wn.Const. art, I, § 9.

The State does not accept that he received a concurrent sentence. The check boxes in and of themselves should carry no significance because, First, RCW 9.94A.589(2) (a) (formerly 9.94A.400 (2)(a)) requires the sentences to run consecutively because the trial court correctly held that the offense occurred while was incarcerated on another offense, and, Second, RCW 9.94A.535 (formerly RCW 9.94A.390) requires the sentencing court to provide "substantial and compelling reasons" to depart from the guidelines. Creation of a concurrent sentence required the sentencing court to set out a statement of reasons for a downward exception to the statutory penalty, which the court did not do. At most, Mr. Caietti's judgment and sentence was simply unclear that it was a consecutive sentence.

erroneous, i.e., not valid.

Mr. Caietti does not argue that he should have received a concurrent sentence when he was sentenced in 1998 to seventy four months (CP 98) for Assault in the Second Degree (CP 94) while incarcerated in a state correctional facility (CP 95). In fact, no claim has been made at either the trial court or the appellate level that Mr. Caietti was entitled to receive a sentence concurrent with the Spokane conviction. Because he has not argued his concurrent sentence was correct, the argument is waived. State v. Johnson, --- Wn.2d ---, 315 P.3d 1090, 1101 (2014). Mr. Caietti's sole contention is that resentencing him created double jeopardy because he had a reasonable expectation of finality in his illegal sentence. Mr. Caeitti points to 1998 incomplete judgment and sentence, which fails to state the sentence is consecutive to the Spokane conviction (CP 98). He also points out that, by his calculations he has already served the concurrent sentence, and argues he is entitled to repose. Mr. Caietti cites mainly to State v. Hardesty,

129 Wn.2d 303, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996) for support. *Hardesty* does state at page 315 that double jeopardy analysis does not focus on the legality or illegality of the sentence under the sentencing statute, but instead on the defendant's expectation of finality. However, the court continues that a person who obtains a sentence reviewable pursuant to CrR 7.8 and subject to correction has no reasonable expectation of finality. His reliance on *Hardesty* is misplaced because *Hardesty* held "[a] court has jurisdiction to amend a judgment to correct an erroneous sentence, where justice requires, under CrR 7.8." *State v. Hardesty*, 129 Wn.2d at 315, 915 P.2d 1080.

The Supreme Court's decision in *Hardesty* addressed a decision from Division III, Court of Appeals³, which the Supreme Court interpreted to uphold a facially valid sentence "even where there is fraud or perjury." *State v. Hardesty*, 129 Wn.2d at 309, 915 P.2d 1080. The Supreme Court vacated the

³ State v. Hardesty, 78 Wn.App. 593, 599-600, 897 P.2d 1282 (1995), which held that a defendant who has completed a sentence valid on its face has an interest in finality, even when he "provides false information to obtain favorable treatment,..."

Court of Appeals' decision after reviewing state and federal decisions discussing finality as it applies to sentencing and double jeopardy. It addressed Mr. Hardesty's claim of finality:

Although Hardesty served his sentence and rejoined civil society for approximately a year before the State sought to increase the sentence and return Hardesty to prison, we hold Hardesty had no expectation of finality in a sentence obtained by fraud some two years earlier. The State may proceed under CrR 7.8 to seek vacation of a judgment procured by fraud.

State v. Hardesty, 129 Wn.2d at 316, 915 P.2d 1080. It then determined that the trial court erred when it resentenced Mr. Hardesty without fully developing whether Mr. Hardesty had defrauded the trial court. State v. Hardesty, 129 Wn.2d at 319, 915 P.2d 1080. In short, State v. Hardesty, supra, did not create an exception permitting a defendant to avoid resentencing because he or she had completed the sentence. The court clearly posited that CrR 7.8 permitted a reviewing court to determine whether the prior sentence was erroneous, even if the sentence had already been served and must be increased. The Supreme Court cited to United States v. DiFrancesco, 449 U.S. 117, 132-36, 101 S.Ct. 426, 66 L.Ed.2d 328 (1980) to conclude "there is

no per se rule against increasing an allegedly erroneous sentence." *State v. Hardesty,* 129 Wn.2d at 310, 915 P.2d 1080.

Further, Mr. Caietti was present in court when the sentencing judge stated his sentence was to run consecutive to the Spokane conviction. He is charged with the knowledge that his sentence is incorrect and is subject to correction. *United States v. Kane*, 876 F.2d 734, 737 (9th Cir. 1989). He therefore cannot claim he is entitled to finality. *Id.* at 732. The reviewing court correctly held that:

"The defendant was present at his own sentencing under the 1998 Clallam cause and was aware of the consecutive nature of his sentence."

In *Hardesty*, the Supreme Court reiterated prior decisions holding that the trial court had jurisdiction to resentence a person because of an invalid sentence, an "erroneously imposed" sentence, or an "erroneous and invalid sentence." *State v. Hardesty*, 129 Wn.2d at 313 and 315, 915 P.2d 1080, citing to *State v. Pascal*, 108 Wn.2d 125, 736 P.2d 1065 (1987), *State v. Freitag*, 127 Wn.2d 141, 896 P.2d 1254, *amended by ---*

- Wn.2d ---, 905 P.2d 355 (1995), *State v. Pringle*, 83 Wn.2d 188, 517 P.2d 192 (1973), and *State ex rel. Sharf v. Municipal Ct.*, 56 Wn.2d 589, 354 P.2d 692 (1960). Review of these decisions and the federal decisions cited therein will show the reviewing court was well within its authority to resentence Mr. Caietti to a consecutive sentence.

In State v. Pascal, supra, the court reviewed decisions of the United States Supreme Court regarding resentencing. The court discussed United States v. DiFrancesco, 449 U.S. 117, 101 S.Ct. 426, 66 L.Ed.2d 328 (1980), which essentially held that the guarantee against double jeopardy did not protect against resentencing except where the defendant – and society – had a strong interest in finality. State v. Pascal, 108 Wn.2d 132-33, 736 P.2d 1065. Pascal also cited to Bozza v. United States, 330 U.S. 160, 67 S.Ct. 645, 91 L.Ed. 818 (1947) to hold "a defendant may have his or her sentence increased if the original sentence was erroneous and hence, invalid." State v. Pascal, 108 Wn.2d 133, 736 P.2d 1065.

Bozza v. United States, supra, upheld resentencing a defendant twice in a five hour period, first with a sentence that did not encompass the minimum necessary sentence and then later with a sentence that met the minimum. Id., at 165-66, 67 S.Ct. 645. The United States Supreme Court very succinctly pointed out that "[t]he Constitution does not require that sentencing should be a game in which a wrong move by the judge means immunity for the prisoner" and "[i]f this inadvertent error cannot be corrected in the manner used here by the trial court, no valid and enforceable sentence can be imposed at all." Id., at 166, 67 S.Ct. 645. Although DiFrancesco later determined that a defendant may develop an interest in the finality of a sentence, the Washington State Supreme Court held that a defendant can never develop an interest in finality of an erroneous sentence, but only "a correct judgment and sentence that was valid at the time it was pronounced." State v. Pascal, 108 Wn.2d at 134, 736 P.2d 1065.

State v. Freitag, 127 Wn.2d 141, 896 P.2d 1254 (1995), is important because it emphasizes a reviewing court's authority to correct a sentence that may appear valid on its face. In *Freitag*, the defendant received an exceptional sentence downward in violation of RCW 9.94A.030 (36)(a)'s mandate that jail time cannot be converted to community service for violent offenses. *Id*, at 144, n. 1, 896 P.2d 1254. Like the present case, the sentencing court failed to impose a sentence required under the SRA. The Supreme Court reversed and remanded for further proceedings because the exceptional sentence did not comply with statutory standards.

This case is important to the analysis because it shows the authority of a court to review and correct a sentence that violates the SRA. The sentence in Mr. Caietti's case did not comply in all aspects with the SRA because the form did not indicate the sentences were consecutive. In *Freitag*, the downward sentence was not correct and the Supreme Court reversed it, even after it had been affirmed by the Court of

Appeals. State v. Freitag, 78 Wn.App. 133, 873 P.2d 548 (1994). The reviewing court in Mr. Caietti's case had authority to modify the judgment and sentence. More importantly, the reviewing court had an obligation to modify it.

A further reason exists to apply the reasoning of *Freitag* to the present case. In Freitag, the sentence included two different problems: First, the sentence violated 9.94A.030 (36)(a)'s mandate that jail time cannot be converted to community service for violent offenses. Second, the sentence included downward exceptions not accepted by the Supreme Court. In the present case, the 1998 sentence was not valid because it failed to meet the requirements of RCW 9.94A.400 (2)(a). The law required a consecutive sentence because the sentencing court found "[t]he offense in Count(s) 1 was committed in a county jail or state correctional facility" (CP 95). Also, as explained in footnote 1, a concurrent sentence under these facts would require an explanation of the downward sentence but the sentencing court did not create a statement of

reasons justifying a downward sentence. On the other hand, the language in the 1998 judgment and sentence stating that "[t]he offense in Count(s) 1 was committed in a county jail or state correctional facility" (CP 95), provides clearly that the court intended to impose a consecutive sentence.

State v. Pringle, 83 Wn.2d 188, 517 P.2d 192 (1973), is important because it distinguishes between a valid sentence and an erroneous sentence, and the authority of the reviewing court to correct the judgment and sentence. The court stated that no double jeopardy issue existed because "[w]e are not remanding this case to the trial court for the purpose of increasing a Valid sentence, but rather we are sending the defendant back for the correction of an Erroneous and invalid sentence." Id., 83 Wn.2d at 194, 517 P.2d 192. As applied to this case, *Pringle* shows why Mr. Caietti's reliance on State v. Hardesty, supra, is misplaced: to create an expectation of finality and therefore create a double jeopardy issue, the sentence must be Valid. An Erroneous sentence is not protected by double jeopardy.

State ex rel. Sharf v. Municipal Ct., 56 Wn.2d 589, 354 P.2d 692 (1960) only holds that a court loses jurisdiction over a defendant once the defendant complies with a sentence that is not erroneous. The analysis in the case is puzzling, given that United States Supreme Court decisions had clearly established that a sentencing court does not lose jurisdiction over a defendant if the judgment and sentence is erroneous. See, e.g., Bozza v. United States, supra. The most that can be said for the decision is "fulfillment of a correct sentence divest[s] the court of the power to impose a greater sentence." State v. Hardesty, 129 Wn.2d at 315, 915 P.2d 1080.

CONCLUSION

Although it may appear harsh because Mr. Caietti expected to be released in less than eight years, Mr. Caietti merely received the sentence he should have received in 1998. The reviewing court did not err when it modified his judgment and sentence to correct the omission made in 1998. Mr. Caetti now has a valid sentence. The State requests that the appellate

court affirm the reviewing court's modification to the 1998 judgment and sentence.